
 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

Please note that, pursuant to the authority provided by Minn. Stat. Sec. 13D.021, subd. 1(1), the City has determined 
that in-person meetings of the City Council are not practical or prudent due to the COVID-19 public health pandemic 
and the declared national, state, and local emergencies.  Meetings of the Council will be conducted by electronic or 
telephonic means.  Under Minn. Stat. Sec. 13D.021, subd. 3, to the extent practical and possible, the City Council will 
allow individuals to monitor the meeting electronically.  Access to the meeting can be obtained online by following 
the link provided below or by contacting the City Hall for instructions and methods for obtaining access to the meeting. 

Meeting Access Information: https://www.ci.independence.mn.us/meetings 

 
****PLEASE NOTE**** 
6:00 PM - LOCAL BOARD OF APPEALS AND EQUALIZATION MEETING 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Hennepin County Assessor David Thomsen: Present Local Board of Appeals and 

Equalization Information. 
 

3. Adjourn. 
 

****************************************************************************** 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA          
TUESDAY APRIL 6, 2021 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING TIME: 6:30 PM 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
3. Roll Call 

 
4. ****Consent Agenda**** 
All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by Council and will be acted 
on by one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items. If discussion is desired, 
that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 
 

a. Approval of City Council Minutes from the February 16, 2021 Regular City Council 
Meeting. 

b. Approval of Accounts Payable; (Batch #1 Checks Numbered 20379-20385, Batch #2 
Check Numbered 20386-20406). 

c. Approval of Pay Request #4 From Rochon for the City Hall Renovation Project. 
d. Approval of a Solicitor Permit for Window, Roofing, Siding Services Contractor – 

VL Builders. 
e. Approval and Award of Annual Dust Control and Gravel Contracts. 



 

5. Set Agenda – Anyone Not on the Agenda can be Placed Under Open/Misc.  
 

6. Reports of Boards and Committees by Council and Staff. 
 

7. John Nyhlen (Applicant) and Jeffrey Cunningham (Owner) request that the City consider the 
following action for the property located at 9226 Highway 12 (PID No. 07-118-24-34-0005) 
in Independence, MN: 

 
a. RESOLUTION 21-0406-01: Considering approval of a conditional use permit to 

allow a ground mounted solar system not exceeding 500 SF and denial of a variance 
to allow a ground mounted solar system that exceeds 500 SF in total area. 

 
8. Mike Kuka (Applicant/Owner) is requesting the following action for the property located at 

4405 County Road 92 N. (PID No. 0411824310002) in the City of Independence, MN: 
 

a. RESOLUTION 21-0406-02: An amendment to the existing conditional use permit, 
allowing a commercial riding stable, to construct a new detached accessory structure 
to be used as a tack room on the property located at 4405 County Road 92 N. 

 
9. Mark Kroskin (Applicant/Owner) is requesting the following action for the property located 

at 6000 Providence Curve (PID No. 1411824420008) in the City of Independence, MN:   
 

a. RESOLUTION 21-0406-03: A variance to allow a detached accessory structure to 
be located closer to the side and rear property lines than otherwise permitted on the 
property located at 6000 Providence Curve. 

 
10. Bryant Johnson (Applicant) and Hilltop Farm, Inc. (Owner) is requesting a concept plan 

review for a subdivision of the property located between CSAH 90 and CSAH 83 and 
identified as PID No. 2611824130001.  The proposed subdivision would ultimately require 
the rezoning of the property and a minor subdivision and would create eleven rural 
residential lots. 
 

11. MS4 Permit Update – Consider Approval of and Authorization to Submit Updated Permit 
Application/TMDL Compliance/BMP Activity Schedule in Accordance with MPCA 
Requirements. 
 

12. Open/Misc. 
 

13. Adjourn. 



 

1 

City of Independence 

City Council Meeting Minutes 

6:30 p.m. March 16, 2021 

 

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 

INDEPENDENCE CITY COUNCIL  

TUESDAY, MARCH 16, 2021 –6:30 P.M. 

(Virtual Meeting/ All Attendees) 

 

 

1.  CALL TO ORDER. 

 

Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, a regular meeting of the Independence City Council was called to 

order by Mayor Johnson at 6:30 p.m. 

 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE. 

 

Mayor Johnson led the group in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

2. ROLL CALL (Note: all noted present were “virtually” present 

 

PRESENT: Mayor Johnson, Councilors Spencer, Betts, McCoy and Grotting 

ABSENT: None 

STAFF: City Administrator Kaltsas, Assistant to Administrator Horner 

VISITORS: Gary Kroells, Aaron Tag, Mel Potter, Dave Thomsen, MnDOT Engineers, Paula Savage, Curt 

Kobilarcsik 

 

3. ****Consent Agenda**** 

All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by Council and will be acted on by one 

motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items. If discussion is desired, that item will be 

removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 

 

a. Approval of City Council Minutes from the March 2, 2021 Regular City Council Meeting. 

b. Approval of Accounts Payable; (Batch #1 Checks Numbered 20318-20322, Batch #2 Check 

Numbered 20351-20378, Checks Numbered 20323-20350 were voided due to printer alignment 

error). 

 

Motion by Betts, second by Grotting to approve the Consent Agenda. Ayes: Johnson, Spencer, McCoy, 

Grotting and Betts.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Abstain. None.  MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 

 

4. SET AGENDA – ANYONE NOT ON THE AGENDA CAN BE PLACED UNDER OPEN/MISC. 

 

5. REPORTS OF BOARDS AND COMMITTEES BY COUNCIL AND STAFF 

 

Spencer attended the following meetings: (Virtual) 

• Highway 12 Safety Coalition Meeting 

 

Grotting attended the following meetings: 

• None 

 

McCoy attended the following meetings:  

• Fire Commission Meeting 



 

2 

City of Independence 

City Council Meeting Minutes 

6:30 p.m. March 16, 2021 

 

 

Betts attended the following meetings: (Virtual) 

• Highway 12 Safety Coalition 

• West Hennepin Chamber of Commerce 

 

Johnson attended the following meetings: (Virtual- unless noted) 

• Highway 12 Safety Coalition 

• NLC Virtual Congressional Conference (Sun-Tues) 

• Fire Commission Meeting (in-person) 

• Orono School Board Meeting 

• Senior Community Services Finance Committee Meeting 

• West Hennepin Police Department Candidate Interviews (in-person) 

• Northwest League of Municipalities Meeting (in person) 

• Orono Healthy Youth Committee Meeting 

• Regional Council of Mayors Meeting 

• West Hennepin Chamber of Commerce Meeting (in-person) 

 

Horner attended the following meetings: (Virtual) 

• West Hennepin Chamber of Commerce Meeting 

• BKV Architects Meeting  

 

Kaltsas attended the following meetings: 

• Highway 12 Safety Coalition Meeting 

• BKV Architects Meeting 

 

6. West Hennepin Public Safety Director Gary Kroells: Presentation of the February 2021 Activity Report. 

 

Kroells stated through February 28, 2021 there were a total of 667 incidents handled by WHPS. 168 incidents 

were in the City of Independence and 100 in Maple Plain. Kroells highlighted several cases. 

 

 *for a complete list of incidents please see the packet for tonight’s meeting* 

 

Betts asked if Kroells looks on the Next-Door Neighbor site. She said there were a few residents very 

concerned about the activity on Lake Independence. Kroells said it concerned a client at a local facility and a 

water patrol search and police search as well as drones. Kroells said he was eventually helped and returned to 

the facility. 

 
7. Hennepin County Assessor David Thomsen: Present Preliminary Local Board of Appeals and 

Equalization Information in Preparation for April 6, 2021 Meeting. 

 

Thomsen said each year, one fifth of the properties in the city are reviewed and the records are updated. For 

the 2021 assessment we viewed one fifth of the city. The areas viewed were in the west central and central 

portions of the city. The viewing, reviewing, and statistical analysis of all sales that sold between October 1, 

2019 and September 30, 2020 in the City of Independence were made.  

 

Summary of the 2021 Assessment 



 

3 

City of Independence 

City Council Meeting Minutes 

6:30 p.m. March 16, 2021 

 

Each year the estimated market values are analyzed along with sales data from the market. A recalculation of 

land and building values were made to all property types. The results of the adjustments for the following 

property types are: 

 

Residential + 3.7% Condo Garages No Change 

Residential Lakeshore + 8.3% Double Bungalow + 0.9% 

Commercial + 1.0% Agricultural + 1.7% 

Industrial + 3.5% 

 

The City of Independence has a total market value of approximately $831,437,300. This value includes 

$11,314,800 in new construction improvements. The overall value increase for all property types in the City 

of Independence is 4.06%. The Local Board of Appeal and Equalization Process Value notices are 

scheduled to be mailed the beginning of March. Taxpayers with value or classification concerns should 

contact the assessor’s office. During the initial conversation the property owner may discuss their concerns 

and review sales information with an appraiser. The majority of the callers are satisfied after a conversation 

with an appraiser. If additional attention is necessary, the appraiser will review the property. 

 

The board has the authority to increase, decrease, or take no action on individual valuations. The total 

reduction must not reduce the cities aggregate assessment by more than one percent or none of the 

adjustments will be allowed. The board cannot increase or decrease by a percentage to all of the assessments 

in the district by class. If the board chooses to reconvene, it must do so within 20 days (from the meeting call 

to order.) 

 

In order for the taxpayer to appeal to the County Board they must first appeal to the Local Board either in 

person or in writing. The County Board of Appeal and Equalization will begin meeting on June 14, 2021. All 

requests for appointments at the County Board must be received by May 21, 2021. To make an appointment, 

taxpayers should call 612- 348-7050. If you have any questions or concerns, please contact Dave Thomsen at 

612-388-5426 

 

Johnson asked how inspections were done with COVID19. Thomsen said the residents sends photos of the 

interior and photos of the outside are supplied by a third party. Johnson said the valuations have always been 

90-105% percent but this year is 85%. He asked when the adjustment would take place. Thomsen said he was 

not certain of that conversation, but the goal of setting values is 95%. Potter said the ratio referred to is the 

“going in ratio” versus the sales that are happening. She said it is a snapshot in time and the market has been 

unbelievable. Thomsen noted it is a sellers’ market. 

 

8. TABLED FROM 3.2.2021 CC MEETING: Consideration of the State of Minnesota Department of 

Transportation and Hennepin County and City of Independence Cooperative Construction Agreement for 

the County Road 90 and TH 12 Roundabout Construction Project.  

 

a. The City Council is being asked to approve the cooperative agreement and authorize the Mayor 

and City Administrator to execute the agreement. 

 

Kaltsas said Staff met with MNDOT and Hennepin County to review concerns expressed by the City Council. 

Staff asked for the following changes and revisions to the contract: 

 

• Add language to the contract that is required by the City’s insurance company to allow the light poles to be 

covered under the City’s insurance policy. In lieu of adding language, MNDOT can turn over ownership of 

the lights to the City. 



 

4 

City of Independence 

City Council Meeting Minutes 

6:30 p.m. March 16, 2021 

 

• Can you find out if MNDOT has ever placed signage at or before the roundabout trails that states, “trails not 

maintained in the winter?” This may alleviate a large portion of the concerns relating to snow plowing. 

• Will MNDOT remove the responsibility of the “markings” from the City’s proposed maintenance 

requirements? MNDOT is going to be monitoring and repainting the road on a schedule and it would not 

make sense for the City to be on a different schedule for striping?  

• If the City does not own the lights, we should discuss adding language relating to small cell technology. The 

City will want provisions in the agreement that specifically prohibits MNDOT from adding equipment and 

potentially maintenance to the light poles. I am not sure how this has been handled in previous agreements, 

but I cannot imagine that MNDOT would expect the City to agree to maintain something that could be 

impacted by allowing small cell equipment to be added? 

• Please consider using a low or no mow grass seed for the boulevards between the trail and sidewalks. The 

specified seed mix should be noted on the plans. 

• During our discussion yesterday it was noted that the trails and crosswalks were for bicyclists crossing TH 

12 on CSAH 90. Why do the trails appear to be designed to pick up bicyclists on TH 12? It seems that the trail 

sections could be shortened to correspond to the cross walks. 

 

Staff is waiting for a response from MNDOT relating to the aforementioned questions and or comments? 

Staff will review the information at the City Council Meeting. MNDOT noted that without resolution to the 

contract, the project will be delayed and or canceled. Staff asked for an official position from MNDOT in 

writing relating to their desire to eliminate this project. 

 

The City has been discussing the TH 12/CSAH 90 2021 roundabout reconstruction project with MNDOT for 

several years. In December of 2020, MNDOT notified the City that they would be preparing a Cooperative 

Agreement that would pass down to the City MNDOT’s responsibility for the future maintenance of several 

key elements of the newly constructed intersection improvement. MNDOT’s internal policy relating to 

maintenance of key elements (described below) is to pass the responsibility down to the benefitting 

authority. For this project, the responsibility has been passed down to Hennepin County. Similar to 

MNDOT’s policy, Hennepin County also has a policy which shifts responsibility down to the local 

municipality for the same items. There are several significant short and long-term potential impacts to the 

City resulting from this request. The City is being asked to take over the responsibility for the following 

maintenance items: 

 

1. Maintenance by the City 

Upon completion of the project, the City will provide the following without cost or expense to the State: 

 

1.1. Sidewalks. Maintenance of any sidewalk construction on the roundabout at T.H. 12 and C.S.A.H. 90, 

including stamped and colored concrete sidewalk (if any) and pedestrian ramps. Maintenance includes, but is 

not limited to, snow, ice, and debris removal, patching, crack repair, panel replacement, cross street pedestrian 

crosswalk markings, vegetation control of boulevards (if any) and any other maintenance activities necessary 

to perpetuate the sidewalks in a safe, useable, and aesthetically acceptable condition.  

 

1.2. Maintenance of lighting at and approaching the roundabout, including all legs and within the roundabout 

as shown in Exhibit “A”, will be shared between the State and the City. The City will be responsible for the 

hook up cost and application to secure an adequate power supply to the service pad or pole and will pay all 

monthly electrical service expenses necessary to operate the lighting facility. The City will be responsible for 

relamping or LED luminaire replacement, repair or replacement of all damaged luminaire glassware, loose 

connections, luminaires when damaged or when ballasts fail, photoelectric control on luminaires, defective 

starter boards or drivers, damaged fuse holders, and blown fuses for the entire system. For those poles on the 



 

5 

City of Independence 

City Council Meeting Minutes 

6:30 p.m. March 16, 2021 

 

local legs of the roundabout shown in Exhibit "A", the City will be responsible for knocked down poles 

including wiring within the poles, damaged poles, pullboxes, underground wire, and damaged foundations 

for all of the maintenance. The State will be responsible for the remainder of the lighting maintenance within 

the main roundabout and at the trunk highway legs of the roundabout. 

 

1.3. Additional Drainage. No party to this Agreement will drain any additional drainage volume into the storm 

sewer facilities constructed under the construction contract that was not included in the drainage for which the 

storm sewer facilities were designed, without first obtaining written permission to do so from the other party. 

The drainage areas served by the storm sewer facilities constructed under the construction contract are shown 

in a drainage area map, Exhibit "Drainage Area", which is on file in the office of the State's District 

Hydraulics Unit at Roseville and is incorporated into this Agreement by reference. 

 

 

1.4. Related Agreements. This Agreement will supersede and terminate the operation and maintenance terms 

of Lighting Maintenance Agreement No. 1000750 dated August 18, 2015, between the State and City, for the 

existing lighting system on T.H. 12 at C.S.A.H. 90. 

 

In addition to the aforementioned items, the initial agreement also required the City to be financially 

responsible for the maintenance of the newly created stormwater ponds. The City discussed this point of 

the agreement further with MNDOT and they ultimately agreed to remove the pond maintenance 

responsibility from the agreement. Staff is seeking further direction and consideration relating to the proposed 

cooperative agreement with MNDOT. The City has noted in our discussions that the improvements do not 

include any City roads or right of way. The City is being asked to take some responsibility for the defined 

items related to the reconstructed intersection of a state highway and county highway. This agreement also 

raises questions relating to the TH 12/CSAH 92 reconstruction project that is currently in the process of being 

designed. The City was informed that a similar agreement will be requested for improvements relating to that 

project. The costs associated with the cooperative agreement are not budgeted at this time and may be difficult 

to accommodate depending on the extent of the responsibilities. City Council is asked to consider whether or 

not to approve entering into a Cooperative Agreement with MNDOT. 
 
Kobilarcsik said there is only one thing holding up the project and that is this agreement with the City. Friday 

is the big day where the signed documents are needed. Kobilarcsik said the lighting is insured by MnDOT for 

a knock-down situation. He said the City is responsible for the maintenance. MnDOT feels it is important to 

have a trail through the roundabout or there is no safety for pedestrians and/ or bikers regardless of how often 

they may be going through. He said it is standard operating procedure for cities to maintain a walkway.  

 
Johnson asked if there were any questions. Spencer said the trail is not connected to any sidewalks and should 

not be encouraged. He said just because it is always done does not mean this one makes sense. Spencer asked 

if the City needed to take this on as we do not even have the equipment to maintain it. Kobilarcsik said there 

will be people that want to cross and encouraged further thought on it. Spencer said it does not make sense 

and thinks encouraging crossing there would be troubling. Kaltsas said the language needs to make sense for 

the partnership with the City which is not like the standard language traditionally used for other cities. He said 

there can be no ambiguity and feels the language the City is proposing is reasonable. Spencer said a proposal 

could be to close the micro-trail in the wintertime due to plowing issues.  

 

Motion by Johnson, second by Spencer to amend the approved language into the agreement between 

the State of Minnesota Department of Transportation and Hennepin County and City of Independence 

Cooperative Construction Agreement for the County Road 90 and TH 12 Roundabout Construction 



 

6 

City of Independence 

City Council Meeting Minutes 

6:30 p.m. March 16, 2021 

 

Project.  Ayes: Johnson, Spencer, McCoy, Grotting and Betts.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. Abstain. 

None.  MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 

 

9. 2021 Clean-up Day Discussion. 

 

Kaltsas said the City has been discussing a 2021 community clean-up day. Staff has several ideas that it would 

like to further discuss with and obtain feedback relating to clean-up day from City Council. The clean-up day 

was not held in 2020 due to the pandemic. Staff offers the following discussion points: 

 

• The City has collected fees associated with the materials brought in by residents. The City has 

also partnered with Maple Plain and ultimately split costs associated with the event 50/50. The City 

has spent the following amounts on the community clean-up day over the last 4 years: 

 

YEAR TOTAL  RECEIPTS  TOTAL EXPENSES  DIFFERENCE      AFTER SPLIT WITH M.P. 

2019    $4,733.00  $5,163.26   ($430.26)   ($215.13) 

2018    $5,693.50  $5,560.18   $133.32   $66.66 

2017    $5,533.20  $7,803.23   ($2,270.03)   ($1,135.01) 

2016    $4,313.50  $5,195.32   ($881.82)   ($440.91) 

 

• Staff has been looking for ways to increase participation and access and to reduce contact points this year to 

the extent possible. Staff discussed the idea of working directly with Randy’s to have residents go directly to 

their site to drop off rather than at City Hall. Randy’s was not confident that they could handle a concentrated 

stream of residents coming all in one day at one general time. 

 

• Staff discussed the possibility of having a drop-off area (fenced area that would be clearly marked for each 

type of item) at City Hall that would be available to residents over a 1-2 week period including Saturdays. 

This would allow residents more flexibility in the drop-off times and would eliminate a concentration of 

vehicles coming at one time. This would require residents to unload their own vehicles. Staff also discussed 

whether or not this could be a twice annual event (spring and fall) to try to capture more materials? 

 

• Staff discussed making the event free for this year in order to offset not having a day last year and to remove 

the need for all of the contact/touch points that may limit the number of residents using the service.  

 

• Staff discussed whether or not it makes sense to continue partnering on the event? 

 

• Materials accepted would be: 

 

o Construction Materials (not concrete) 

o Mattresses 

o Furniture 

o Tires 

o Light Bulbs 

o Batteries 

o Electronics 

o Propane Tanks 

o Recycling Items (cardboard, aluminum, glass) 

o Appliances 

o Bicycles 

o Light Bulbs (including fluorescents) 



 

7 

City of Independence 

City Council Meeting Minutes 

6:30 p.m. March 16, 2021 

 

• Materials not accepted would be: 

 

o Hazardous Materials 

o Concrete 

o Brush/Organics 

 

Staff is seeking further direction and consideration relating to the community clean-up day. 

 

Johnson said we want to make sure all of the construction is finished first. His big concern is that he does not 

want to see continual junk dropped off. Kaltsas said it would be nice to have a more open schedule for people 

and be clear on what is permitted. Grotting said he is comfortable with Horner and Kaltsas designing a system 

that works and proposing the dates. Spencer said the day is generally consistent with other communities and is 

the first Saturday of May. He said it would be nice to keep that day this year if possible. Spencer said if it is 

an unattended event, we will probably get a lot of items from people outside of the City. Kaltsas said it could 

be discussed further and the details could be sent out in the upcoming newsletter. 

 

8. OPEN/MISC. 

 

9. ADJOURN. 

 

 

Motion by Spencer, second by McCoy to adjourn at 7:54 p.m. Ayes: Johnson, Grotting, McCoy, Betts, 

and Spencer.  Nays: None.  Absent: None. None. Abstain. None.  MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 

 

_____________________________ 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Trish Gronstal/ Recording Secretary 

 

 



 

 
 

 

Mark Kaltsas 

City of Independence 

1920 County Rd 90 

Maple Plain, MN  

55359  

 

March 26, 2021 

 

Dear Mark, 

 

We have received Payment Application #4 from Rochon Corporation for the Independence 

City Hall Renovation, with cover letter dated March 1st, 2020. 

We have reviewed the application against work completed and documented work stored 

within the invoice period listed on the application and recommend payment of the listed 

current payment due, $78,730.57 which includes a retainage of 5.00% of completed work.  

If there are any questions I can answer, please reach out via email or phone. 

 

Susan Morgan, AIA 

Associate Partner, Senior Project Manager 

BKV Group 

 

 

 







3/26/21









	

__________________________________________________________________________ 
763-479-0527 (Phone)                               1920 County Road 90                                   763-479-0528 (Fax) 

Independence, MN 55359 
www.ci.independence.mn.us 

	

	
	
	
April	6,	2021	
	
TO:																	Mayor	and	City	Council	
	
FROM:											Shawn	Bode,	Public	Works	Supervisor	
	
RE:																		Dust	Control/Gravel	Bids	
	
	
The	City	annually	bids	out	dust	control	and	gravel	in	an	effort	to	obtain	the	best	value	to	
the	City	for	treating	the	gravel	roads.	The	City	typically	applies	approximately	60,000-
65,000	gallons	of	material	per	year	to	treat	the	City	roads.	This	year	the	City	received	two	
bids:	one	for	Magnesium	Chloride	from	Quality	Propane	and	one	from	Envirotech	for	
Calcium	Chloride.	Both	products	have	been	successfully	used	by	the	City	in	the	past.	
Magnesium	chloride	requires	approximately	2%	more	material	than	calcium	chloride.	Even	
with	the	increased	quantity,	the	bid	for	magnesium	chloride	is	still	the	best	value.	Based	on	
the	prices	provided,	it	is	my	recommendation	that	the	City	award	the	dust	control	bid	to	
Quality	Propane.	
	
The	City	received	one	bid	for	sand	and	gravel.	The	City	has	used	Bryan	Rock	in	the	past	and	
prefers	the	Class	5	product	used	by	Bryan	Rock.	The	City	recommends	awarding	the	sand	
and	gravel	as	shown	below:	
	

DUST	CONTROL	
	

																					Magnesium	Chloride:																																																						FOB	
	

																					Envirotech																																																		2020:	$1.07	per	gal.					2021:	$1.03	per	gal.	
																			
																					Quality	Propane	Inc.																																2020:	$0.93	per	gal.					2021:	$0.965	per	gal.	
	
																																																																					SAND	AND	GRAVEL	
	
																					Class	5	Gravel-Bryan	Rock																				2020:	$11.10	FOB,	$17.80	Delivered	
																																																																																												2021:	$11.55	FOB,	$18.35	Delivered	



9226	US	Hwy	12	CUP	Request	–	City	Council	 4.6.2021	 	
	 Page	1	
 

City of Independence 
Request for a Conditional Use Permit and Variance to  

Construct a Ground Mounted Solar System  
on the Property located at 9226 US Hwy 12 

 
To: City Council 

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: April 6, 2021 

Applicant: John Nylen with Cedar Creek Energy 

Property Owner: Jeff Cunningham 

Location: 9226 US Hwy 12  

 

Request: 
John Nyhlen (Applicant) and Jeffrey Cunningham (Owner) request that the City consider the following 
applications for the property located at 9226 US Hwy 12 (PID No. 07-118-24-34-0005) in Independence, 
MN: 
 

a. A conditional use permit to allow a ground mounted solar system that is less than 500 SF.   
 

b. A variance to allow a ground mounted solar system that is greater than 500 SF.   
 

 
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located on the north side of US Hwy 12 and nearly across from Nelson Road.  The property 
has an existing home and two detached accessory structures.  The property has the following 
characteristics: 
 

Property Information: 9226 US Hwy 12  
Zoning: Agriculture 

 Comprehensive Plan: Agriculture 
 Acreage: 4.43 acres 
 
 
 

  
 



9226	US	Hwy	12	CUP	Request	–	City	Council	 4.6.2021	 	
	 Page	2	
 

 Subject Property 

 
 
Discussion: 
The applicant approached the City in 2020 about the possibility of installing a ground mounted solar system 
on the subject property.  The City provided the applicant with the requirements and discussed the process 
for initially developing the City’s standards relating to ground mounted solar systems.  All ground mounted 
solar systems require a conditional use permit.  Ground mounted solar systems are limited to a maximum 
square footage of 500 square feet.  Ground mounted solar systems have the following requirements: 
 
Subd. 5.  Ground-mounted solar energy systems shall conform to the following standards:  

 (a)  Ground-mounted systems shall only be allowed on a parcel with an existing principal structure.  

 (b)  Ground-mounted systems shall be located only in rear or side yards.  

 (c)  Ground-mounted systems shall not be located in the Shoreland Overlay District.  



9226	US	Hwy	12	CUP	Request	–	City	Council	 4.6.2021	 	
	 Page	3	
 

 (d)  Ground-mounted systems shall be wholly screened from view from the public right-of-way and   
adjacent residential structures. Methods for screening shall include berming, fencing, 
landscaping and/or combination thereof.  

 (e)  Ground-mounted systems shall be located on a parcel of at least 2.5 acres.  

 (f)   Ground-mounted systems shall be setback 40 feet from the rear yards.  

 (g)  Ground-mounted systems shall be setback 30 feet from the side yards.  

 (h)  Ground-mounted systems shall have a maximum area of 500 SF.  

 (i)  The maximum height for any component of the system shall be 15 feet.  

 (j)  Ground-mounted systems shall be in compliance with any applicable local, state and federal 
regulatory standards, including building, electrical and plumbing codes.  

 (k)    Ground-mounted systems and their support structures shall be designed by a certified 
professional to meet applicable professional standards for the local soil and climate conditions.  

 
The proposed ground mounted solar system would be located in the rear yard of the existing home.  The 
proposed solar system would be comprised of two separate ground mounted arrays.  The total square 
footage of the two arrays is proposed to be 2,600 SF (1,300 SF per array).  The proposed system would 
exceed the maximum square footage permitted by 2,100 SF.  The arrays would be setback approximately 
40 feet from the north rear property line (rear yard) and 55 feet from the west side property line (side yard).  
The required setback for the rear yard is 40 feet and the required setback for the side yard is 30 feet. 
 
 

 



9226	US	Hwy	12	CUP	Request	–	City	Council	 4.6.2021	 	
	 Page	4	
 

The proposed ground mounted system would have a maximum height of 9’-3” to the top of the highest 
portion of the panels.  The City requires systems to be wholly screened from view of the public right of way 
and adjacent residential structures.  There is a residential home and property just to the south of the 
subject property and proposed location of the ground mounted array.  The proximity of the proposed 
ground mounted system to the nearest residence is approximately 250 feet.  The distance from the 
proposed solar arrays to the Hwy 12 right of way is approximately 350 feet.  The City will need to discuss 
whether or not additional screening should be added to the south property line should the request be 
recommended for approval.  There is some existing vegetation located along the south property line (north 
property line of the adjacent property).  One additional consideration relating to screening is that the panels 
will be oriented to face south.   
 
The applicant has provided the City with a site plan and images of the proposed solar system.  The system 
is comprised 120 panels.  The panels are oriented to the south and will be installed at a 30-degree angle to 
the ground.  The proposed panels are mounted to a galvanized metal racking system.  The racking system 
is proposed to be secured to the ground using helical pilings.  The proposed solar panels are a mono Perc 
cell panel that has an anti-reflection coating.  This type of panel is typically a little darker blue in color. 
 
The criteria for granting a conditional use permit are clearly delineated in the City’s Zoning Ordinance 
(Section 520.11 subd. 1, a-i) as follows: 
 

1. The conditional use will not adversely affect the health, safety, morals and general welfare of 
occupants of surrounding lands. 

2. The proposed use will not have a detrimental effect on the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the proposes already permitted or on the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant in the 
area. 

3. Existing roads and proposed access roads will be adequate to accommodate anticipated 
traffic. 

4. Sufficient off-street parking and loading space will be provided to serve the proposed use. 
5. The proposed conditional use can be adequately serviced by public utilities or on-site sewage 

treatment, and sufficient area of suitable soils for on-site sewage treatment is available to 
protect the city form pollution hazards. 

6. The proposal includes adequate provision for protection of natural drainage systems, natural 
topography, tree growth, water courses, wetlands, historic sites and similar ecological and 
environmental features. 

7. The proposal includes adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, 
noise, or vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance. 

8. The proposed condition use is consistent with the comprehensive plan of the City of 
Independence. 

9. The proposed use will not stimulate growth incompatible with prevailing density standards. 
 
520.21. Standards for granting variances. Subdivision 1. The City Council may grant a variance from the 
terms of this zoning code, including restrictions placed on nonconformities, in cases where: 1) the variance 
is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of this zoning code; 2) the variance is consistent with 



9226	US	Hwy	12	CUP	Request	–	City	Council	 4.6.2021	 	
	 Page	5	
 

the comprehensive plan; and 3) the applicant establishes that there are practical difficulties in complying 
with the zoning code (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  

 
Subd. 2. An applicant for a variance must demonstrate that there are practical difficulties in  
complying with the zoning code. For such purposes, “practical difficulties” means:  

 
(a) The property owner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not 

permitted by the zoning code;  
 

(b) the plight of the property owner is due to circumstances unique to the property not 
created by the landowner;  

 
(c) the variance, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  

 
Economic considerations alone do not constitute practical difficulties. Practical difficulties include, but are 
not limited to, inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  
 
Subd. 3. The City Council shall not grant a variance to permit a use that is not allowed under the  
zoning code based on the zoning classification of the affected property. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  
 
520.23. Conditions and restrictions. The board of adjustments may recommend, and the City Council may 
impose conditions on a variance. Conditions must be directly related to and must bear a rough 
proportionality to the impact created by the variance. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  
 
The City has discussed the proposed ground mounted solar system with the applicant.  The proposed 
ground mounted solar system exceeds the City’s maximum size for ground mounted solar systems.  The 
energy generated by this system 38.4 kW (AC) falls just below the maximum amount permitted by the state 
tariff limits for residential systems.  The applicant has noted that the homeowners are planning on 
remodeling the home and installing a ground source HVAC system. The ground source system will 
generate a significant energy need for the property.  There are a few additional considerations that should 
be noted by the City: 
 

• The maximum size of permitted by a ground mounted solar system (500 SF) was based on the 
size of a typical residential solar system.  This system would require the City to grant a variance to 
the maximum size to allow 2,100 additional square feet of surface area.  The criteria for granting a 
variance are provided within this report.  The City will need to find that the size limitation on ground 
mounted systems creates a hardship to the owner.  Additionally, the City will need to also find that 
the granting of a variance will not alter the essential character of the area and maintain the 
reasonable use of the property. 
 

• The proposed system is a residential system that generates an amount of energy that comes in 
just below the maximum permitted for a residential installation.  The system will generate 
approximately 62,000 kWh in the first year.  The average residential property across the US uses 
approximately 10,649 kWh per year and as much as 15,000 kWh per year.   
 



9226	US	Hwy	12	CUP	Request	–	City	Council	 4.6.2021	 	
	 Page	6	
 

• The proposed system meets the location, setback and maximum height requirements of the zoning 
ordinance. 

 
• The property has only one neighboring and potentially impacted property.  The visibility of this 

system from the Hwy 12 right of way is limited or fully screened.  The existing vegetation that 
separates the two properties is comprised primarily deciduous trees/shrubs.  

 
• The location of the proposed solar system is close to a potential wetland area (see yellow – 

possible and blue - probable areas below).  The applicant is going to need to verify the extents of 
the wetland and confirm that no impact or a de minimis impact to the wetland is permitted.  This 
may require a wetland delineation, adjusting the location within this general area of the property or 
splitting the system into three shorter arrays versus two longer arrays.    

 

 
 

The City will need to determine if the system should be further screened from the south property line.  The 
City will also need to find that the proposed variance and conditional use permit meet the criteria for 
granting both and continues to allow the reasonable use and enjoyment of the surrounding properties.  This 
site located off of US Hwy 12, the orientation of the proposed solar system and the relationship to the 
surrounding properties all aid in the mitigation of potential impacts relating to the ground mounted solar 
array.    
 
 
 



9226	US	Hwy	12	CUP	Request	–	City	Council	 4.6.2021	 	
	 Page	7	
 

Neighbor Comments: 
The City has received some verbal questions relating to the project and whether or not his is a commercial 
installation.  It was noted that this is a residential installation.  The City has not received any written 
comments regarding the proposed variance and conditional use permit.   
 
 
Planning Commission Discussion and Recommendation: 
Planning Commissioners discussed the request for a variance and conditional use permit to allow a ground 
mounted solar system that exceeds the allowable square footage of 500 SF.  Commissioners initially tabled 
this item to allow the applicant an opportunity to address the Commissioner and provide additional 
information relating to the need for the additional size.  It was noted by the petitioner that their usage would 
be less than the amount of power generated by the proposed system and that they would be selling the 
power that is not use back to the utility provider.  They noted that this would help with the economics of the 
proposed system and create a faster rate of return on the solar investment.  Commissioners discussed the 
intent of the 500 SF limitation and asked whether or not a “typical” residential system could be constructed 
within the parameters established.  Staff noted that the City has had only one other request for a ground 
mounted system which was approximately 450 SF and that CUP was approved.  Commissioners believed 
that the intent of the ordinance in place was to allow ground mounted systems that would supply power to 
support a residential home, but that would not generate additional power for sale or in excess of need.  
Commissioners ultimately recommended approval of a conditional use permit to allow a 500 SF system and 
denial of the variance requesting additional square footage. 
 
 
Recommendation: 
The Planning Commission recommended approval of the conditional use permit to allow a ground mounted solar 
system and denial of the requested variance to allow a 2,6000 SF ground mounted system with the following 
findings and conditions: 
 

1. The proposed conditional use permit request meets all applicable conditions and restrictions stated in 
Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2. Approval of the conditional use permit will be subject to the following conditions:  
 

a) The applicant shall verify the extents of the wetland boundary and confirm that no impact or a de 
minimis impact to the wetland is permitted by all regulatory authorities.  This may require a wetland 
delineation.  Based on the information provided relating to the wetland boundary, the proposed 
location and layout of the solar array may need to be adjusted or the array may need to be split into 
three shorter arrays versus two longer arrays. 
 

3. The conditional use permit will include the following conditions: 
 



9226	US	Hwy	12	CUP	Request	–	City	Council	 4.6.2021	 	
	 Page	8	
 

a) The conditional use permit will allow a 500 SF ground mounted solar system that is installed in 
accordance with the approved plans attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

b) The ground mounted solar system shall be constructed in accordance with all applicable zoning 
code, building code and other applicable standards.  

 
4. The variance to permit a 2,600 SF ground mounted solar system is denied based on the following 

findings: 
 
a) The City finds that the criteria for granting a variance have not been satisfied by the applicant.  

Specifically, the City finds the following: 
 
1. The proposed 2,600 SF ground mounted solar system is larger than needed to support a 

residential property and does impact the essential character of the property and surrounding 
properties. 
 

2. The proposed variance, if granted, would allow a ground mounted solar system that provides 
energy in excess of the needs of the residential property.  

 
3. Potential impacts resulting from the larger ground mounted solar system have not been 

adequately mitigated by the applicant and would impact the adjacent property. 
 

5. The applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the review and recording of the resolution granting 
approval of the conditional use permit and variance. 

 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Application 
2. Ground Mounted Solar Site Plan (Exhibit A) 
3. Ground Mounted Solar Plans and Details 
 

 
 



 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

 
CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 

RESOLUTION NO. 21-0406-01 
 

 
A RESOLUTION GRANTING APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT TO 

ALLOW A 500 SF GROUND MOUNTED SOLAR SYSTEM AND DENYING A VARIANCE 
TO ALLOW A 2,600 SF GROUND MOUNTED SOLAR SYSTEM AS REQUESTED BY 

JEFFREY CUNNINGHAM FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 9226 US HIGHWAY 12  
 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the 
laws of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a comprehensive plan in 2010 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a zoning ordinance and other official controls to assist 
in implementing the comprehensive plan; and  

WHEREAS, Jeffrey Cunningham, (the “Owner”) submitted a request for a conditional 
use permit to allow a ground mounted solar system and variance to allow a ground mounted solar 
system that exceeds 500 SF on the property located 9226 US Hwy 12 (PID No. 07-118-24-34-
0005) (the “Property”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the Property is legally described as: 

Beg At Se Cor Of Sw 1/4 Th W Along S Line Thof Dist 370 Ft Th N 255 Ft Th W 215 Ft 
Th N 207.53 Ft Th E 594.1 Ft To E Line Thof Th Sly Along E Line; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is zoned Agriculture; and 

WHEREAS the requested Conditional Use Permit meets all requirements, standards and 
specifications of the City of Independence zoning ordinance for Agriculture lots; and 

WHEREAS the Planning Commission held a public hearing on February 16, 2021 to 
review the application for a conditional use permit and variance, following mailed and published 
noticed as required by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and 
has now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval; and  



 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by 
Jeffrey Cunningham for a conditional use permit to allow a 500 SF ground mounted solar system 
on the property per the City’s zoning regulations and with the findings provided within this 
resolution. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby denies the application for a 
variance to allow a ground mounted solar system that exceeds 500 SF with the following 
findings: 
 

1. The proposed conditional use permit request meets all applicable conditions and 
restrictions stated in Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 

2. Approval of the conditional use permit will be subject to the following conditions:  
 

a) The applicant shall verify the extents of the wetland boundary and confirm that no 
impact or a de minimis impact to the wetland is permitted by all regulatory 
authorities.  This may require a wetland delineation.  Based on the information 
provided relating to the wetland boundary, the proposed location and layout of the 
solar array may need to be adjusted or the array may need to be split into three shorter 
arrays versus two longer arrays. 
 

3. The conditional use permit will include the following conditions: 
 

a) The conditional use permit will allow a 500 SF ground mounted solar system that is 
installed in accordance with the approved plans attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

b) The ground mounted solar system shall be constructed in accordance with all 
applicable zoning code, building code and other applicable standards.  

 
4. The variance to permit a ground mounted solar system exceeding 500 SF is denied based 

on the following findings: 
 
a) The City finds that the criteria for granting a variance have not been satisfied by the 

applicant.  Specifically, the City finds the following: 
 
1. The proposed 2,600 SF ground mounted solar system is larger than needed to 

support a residential property and does impact the essential character of the 
property and surrounding properties. 
 

2. The proposed variance, if granted, would allow a ground mounted solar system 
that provides energy in excess of the needs of the residential property.  

 
3. Potential impacts resulting from the larger ground mounted solar system have not 

been adequately mitigated by the applicant and would impact the adjacent 
property. 



 

 
5. The applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the review and recording of the 

resolution granting approval of the conditional use permit and variance. 
 

6. The conditional use permit shall be recorded with Hennepin County. 
 
 

This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on this 
6th day of April 2021, by a vote of ____ayes and ____nays. 

         

______________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

EXHIBIT A 
(Site Plan) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Applicant Information Owner Information

Name: JOHN M Nyhlen

Address: 10361
Blaine, Minnesota 55449

Primary Phone: 7634509767

Email: permits@cedarcreekenergy.com

Name: Jeffrey D Cunningham

Address: 9226 US HWY 12
Delano, Minnesota 55328

Primary Phone: 952-855-2788

Email: jeff_cunningham@hotmail.com

Property Address:

PID:

Planning Application Type: Variance

Description:

Supporting Documents: Building Plans, Construction Plans, Wetland Delineation, Preliminary/Final Plan

Signature:



UM

MSP

AC TB UM

I
N

V

C
B

I
N

V

I
N

V

I
N

V

I
N

V

SITE PLAN-1

PV-1.0

JEFF CUNNINGHAM - 48.000kW DC, 38.400kW AC

SITE PLAN-1

PV-1.0

A SITE PLAN-1

SCALE: 1"=40'-0"

INDEX

INDEX NO. DESCRIPTION

SITE PLAN-1

SITE PLAN-2

GENERAL NOTES

MOUNTING DETAILS

STRUCTURAL DETAILS-1

STRUCTURAL DETAILS-2

SINGLE LINE DIAGRAM

ELECTRICAL CALCULATION

WARNING PLACARDS

SPEC SHEET(S)

PV-1.0

PV-1.1

PV-2.0

PV-3.0

PV-3.1

PV-3.2

PV-4.0

PV-4.1

PV-5.0

SS

ELECTRIC CODE NEC 2017

FIRE CODE IFC 2018

RESIDENTIAL CODE MNRC 2020

BUILDING CODE MNBC 2020

WIND SPEED 115 MPH

SNOW LOAD 50 PSF

HIGH TEMP 32°C

LOW TEMP -26°C

GENERAL INFORMATION

PV-1.0

A1 VICINITY MAP

SCALE: NTS

CUSTOMER INFORMATION

NAME&ADDRESS:

45°02'11.7"N 93°45'31.9"W

AHJ:MN-COUNTY HENNEPIN

UTILITY:WRIGHT HENNEPIN COOP ELECTRIC

ASSOCIATION

SYSTEM INFORMATION

DESIGNER/CHECKED BY:

PR/RR

SCALE:AS NOTED PAPER SIZE:17"x11"

JEFF CUNNINGHAM

9226 US-12, DELANO, MN 55328

ENGINEER OF RECORD

DATE:12/17/20

REV:A

10361 JAMESTOWN ST NE  BLAINE, MN 55449

763-450-9763

LIC:ELEC#EA006457

LIC:GEN#BC638279

PROJECT NUMBER:CCEN-001549

DC SYSTEM SIZE: 48000W

AC SYSTEM SIZE: 38400W

MODULES:

(120)JINKO SOLAR JKM400M-72HL-V

INVERTER:

(5)SMA SUNNY BOY  SB7.7-1TP-US-41(240V,1PH)

DISTANCE BETWEEN EQUIPMENT

FROM TO

DISTANCE(FT)

ARRAY-02 PV INVERTER-01&02 20

ARRAY-01 PV INVERTER-03&04 1

PV INVERTER-01&05 AC COMBINER PANEL 1

AC COMBINER PANEL  UTILITY AC DISCONNECT 140

UTILITY AC

DISCONNECT

TAP BOX 1

TAP BOX UTILITY METER 1

UTILITY METER MAIN SERVICE PANEL 1

ACCOUNT #150-1695-6047

METER #91794822

(E) MAIN SERVICE PANEL

(INTERIOR)

(N) UTILITY AC DISCONNECT

(EXTERIOR)

(N) SERVICE METER WITH DETENT

(ENERGYSUPPLIED BY MEMBER)(EXTERIOR)

(N) PV INVERTER-01(ARRAY MOUNTED)

PHOTOVOLTAIC ARRAY ON GROUND

NOTE:

1.NO CLEARANCE ISSUES WITH EXITING OVERHEAD LINES

2.PV UTILITY DISCONNECTS ARE

· LOCATED WITHIN 10' OF MAIN SERVICE/BILLING METER

· VISIBLE,LOCKABLE,READILY ACCESIBLE AND 24/7 ACCESS

3.DESIGN COMPLY WITH NEC AND NEC690

4.LABELS SHALL BE WEATHERPROOF,DURABLE,AND PERMANENTLY MOUNTED

5.24/7 UNSCORTED KEYLESS ACCESS TO METERS AND UTILITY AC

DISCONNECTS.

6..SECONDARY INTERCONNECTION

280' AC TRENCHED CONDUIT RUN

(N) PV INVERTER-02(ARRAY MOUNTED)

(N) AC COMBINER PANEL (ARRAY MOUNTED)

(N) TAP BOX (EXTERIOR)

(N) GENERAL SERVICE METER WITH DETENT

(ENERGY USED BY MEMBER)(EXTERIOR)

(N) PV INVERTER-03(ARRAY MOUNTED)

(N) PV INVERTER-04(ARRAY MOUNTED)

20' DC TRENCHED CONDUIT RUN

NOTE:

1.  MODULES ARE UL 1703 RATED.

2. INVERTERS ARE UL 1741 RATED.

(N) PV INVERTER-05(ARRAY MOUNTED)



UM

MSP

AC TB UM

I
N

V

C
B

I
N

V

I
N

V

I
N

V

I
N

V

SITE PLAN-2

PV-1.1

JEFF CUNNINGHAM - 48.000kW DC, 38.400kW AC

SITE PLAN-2

PV-1.1

A SITE PLAN-2

SCALE: 1"=60'-0"

PHOTOVOLTAIC ARRAY ON GROUND

CUSTOMER INFORMATION

NAME&ADDRESS:

45°02'11.7"N 93°45'31.9"W

AHJ:MN-COUNTY HENNEPIN

UTILITY:WRIGHT HENNEPIN COOP ELECTRIC

ASSOCIATION

SYSTEM INFORMATION

DESIGNER/CHECKED BY:

PR/RR

SCALE:AS NOTED PAPER SIZE:17"x11"

JEFF CUNNINGHAM

9226 US-12, DELANO, MN 55328

ENGINEER OF RECORD

DATE:12/17/20

REV:A

10361 JAMESTOWN ST NE  BLAINE, MN 55449

763-450-9763

LIC:ELEC#EA006457

LIC:GEN#BC638279

PROJECT NUMBER:CCEN-001549

DC SYSTEM SIZE: 48000W

AC SYSTEM SIZE: 38400W

MODULES:

(120)JINKO SOLAR JKM400M-72HL-V

INVERTER:

(5)SMA SUNNY BOY  SB7.7-1TP-US-41(240V,1PH)

PROPERTY LINE

DETACHED

STRUCTURE

RESIDENCE

4
3
6
'
-
9
"

677'-6"

2
1
3
'
-
6
"

216'-6"

2
3
7
'
-
3
"

US-12

D

R

I

V

E

 

W

A

Y

10'

55'-7"

2
0
'

40
'

523'-3"

DRAINAGE

DITCH



GENERAL NOTES

PV-2.0

CUSTOMER INFORMATION

NAME&ADDRESS:

45°02'11.7"N 93°45'31.9"W

AHJ:MN-COUNTY HENNEPIN

UTILITY:WRIGHT HENNEPIN COOP ELECTRIC

ASSOCIATION

SYSTEM INFORMATION

DESIGNER/CHECKED BY:

PR/RR

SCALE:AS NOTED PAPER SIZE:17"x11"

JEFF CUNNINGHAM

9226 US-12, DELANO, MN 55328

ENGINEER OF RECORD

DATE:12/17/20

REV:A

10361 JAMESTOWN ST NE  BLAINE, MN 55449

763-450-9763

LIC:ELEC#EA006457

LIC:GEN#BC638279

PROJECT NUMBER:CCEN-001549

DC SYSTEM SIZE: 48000W

AC SYSTEM SIZE: 38400W

MODULES:

(120)JINKO SOLAR JKM400M-72HL-V

INVERTER:

(5)SMA SUNNY BOY  SB7.7-1TP-US-41(240V,1PH)

GENERAL NOTES

GENERAL NOTES

1. MODULES ARE LISTED UNDER UL 1703 AND CONFORM TO THE STANDARDS.

2. INVERTERS ARE LISTED UNDER UL 1741 AND CONFORM TO THE STANDARDS.

3. DRAWINGS ARE DIAGRAMMATIC, INDICATING GENERAL ARRANGEMENT OF THE PV SYSTEM AND THE ACTUAL

SITE CONDITION MIGHT VARY.

4. WORKING CLEARANCES AROUND THE NEW PV ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT WILL BE MAINTAINED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH NEC CODE.

5. ALL GROUND WIRING CONNECTED TO THE MAIN SERVICE GROUNDING IN MAIN SERVICE PANEL/ SERVICE

EQUIPMENT.

6. ALL CONDUCTORS SHALL BE 600V, 75°C STANDARD COPPER UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

7. THE SYSTEM WILL NOT BE INTERCONNECTED BY THE CONTRACTOR UNTIL APPROVAL FROM THE LOCAL

JURISDICTION AND/OR THE UTILITY.

8. PV ARRAY COMBINER/JUNCTION BOX PROVIDES TRANSITION FROM ARRAY WIRING TO CONDUIT WIRING

EQUIPMENT LOCATION:

9. ALL EQUIPMENT SHALL MEET MINIMUM SETBACKS AS REQUIRED BY  NEC CODE.

10. WIRING SYSTEMS INSTALLED IN DIRECT SUNLIGHT MUST BE RATED FOR EXPECTED OPERATING

TEMPERATURE AS SPECIFIED BY  NEC CODE AND NEC TABLES.

11. JUNCTION AND PULL BOXES PERMITTED INSTALLED UNDER PV MODULES ACCORDING TO NEC CODE.

12. ADDITIONAL AC DISCONNECT(S) SHALL BE PROVIDED WHERE THE INVERTER IS NOT WITHIN SIGHT OF THE

AC SERVICING DISCONNECT.

13. ALL EQUIPMENT SHALL BE INSTALLED ACCESSIBLE TO QUALIFIED PERSONNEL ACCORDING TO NEC

APPLICABLE CODES.

14. ALL COMPONENTS ARE LISTED FOR THEIR PURPOSE AND RATED FOR OUTDOOR USAGE WHEN APPROPRIATE

.

WIRING & CONDUIT NOTES:

15. ALL CONDUIT AND WIRE WILL BE LISTED AND APPROVED FOR THEIR PURPOSE. CONDUIT AND WIRE

SPECIFICATIONS ARE BASED ON MINIMUM CODE REQUIREMENTS AND ARE NOT MEANT TO LIMIT UP-SIZING.

16. CONDUCTORS SIZED ACCORDING TO NEC CODE.

17. DC WIRING LIMITED TO MODULE FOOTPRINT. MICRO INVERTER WIRING SYSTEMS SHALL BE LOCATED AND

SECURED UNDER THE ARRAY WITH SUITABLE WIRING CLIPS.

18. AC CONDUCTORS COLORED OR MARKED AS FOLLOWS: PHASE A OR L1- BLACK PHASE B OR L2- RED, OR

OTHER CONVENTION IF THREE PHASE PHASE C OR L3- BLUE, YELLOW, ORANGE**, OR OTHER CONVENTION

NEUTRAL- WHITE OR GREY IN 4-WIRE DELTA CONNECTED SYSTEMS THE PHASE WITH HIGHER VOLTAGE TO

BE MARKED ORANGE [NEC CODE].

INTERCONNECTION NOTES:

24. LOAD-SIDE INTERCONNECTION SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH [NEC CODE]

25. THE SUM OF THE UTILITY OCPD AND INVERTER CONTINUOUS INPUT MAY NOT EXCEED 120% OF BUSBAR

RATING [NEC CODE].

26. WHEN SUM OF THE PV SOURCES EQUALS >100% OF BUSBAR RATING, PV DEDICATED BACKFFED BREAKERS

MUST BE LOCATED OPPOSITE END OF THE BUS FROM THE UTILITY SOURCE OCPD [NEC CODE].

27. AT MULTIPLE PV OUTPUT COMBINER PANEL, TOTAL RATING OF ALL OVER CURRENT DEVICES SHALL NOT

EXCEED AMPACITY OF BUSBAR. HOWEVER, THE COMBINED OVER CURRENT DEVICE MAY BE EXCLUDED

ACCORDING TO NEC 705.12 CODE.

28. FEEDER TAP INTER CONNECTION (LOAD SIDE) ACCORDING TO NEC CODE.

29. SUPPLY SIDE TAP INTERCONNECTION ACCORDING TO NEC 705.12 (A) WITH SERVICE ENTRANCE

CONDUCTORS IN ACCORDANCE WITH NEC CODE.

30. BACK FEEDING BREAKER FOR UTILITY-INTERACTIVE INVERTER OUTPUT IS EXEMPT FROM ADDITIONAL

FASTENING [NEC CODE.

GROUNDING NOTES:

31. GROUNDING SYSTEM COMPONENTS SHALL BE LISTED FOR THEIR PURPOSE, AND GROUNDING DEVISES

EXPOSED TO THE ELEMENTS SHALL BE RATED FOR SUCH USE.

32. PV EQUIPMENT SHALL BE GROUNDED ACCORDING TO NEC CODE AND MINIMUM NEC TABLE.

33. EQUIPMENT GROUNDING CONDUCTORS SHALL BE SIZED ACCORDING TO NEC CODE AND MICRO INVERTER

MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTIONS.

34. THE GROUNDING CONNECTION TO A MODULE SHALL BE ARRANGED SUCH THAT THE REMOVAL OF A MODULE

DOES NOT INTERRUPT A GROUNDING CONDUCTOR TO ANOTHER MODULE.

35. GROUNDING AND BONDING CONDUCTORS, IF INSULATED, SHALL BE COLORED GREEN OR MARKED GREEN IF

#4 AWG OR LARGER [NEC CODE]

36. DISCONNECTING SWITCHES SHALL BE WIRED SUCH THAT WHEN THE SWITCH IS OPENED THE CONDUCTORS

REMAINING ENERGIZED ARE CONNECTED TO THE TERMINALS MARKED “LINE SIDE” (TYPICALLY THE UPPER

TERMINALS).

37. DISCONNECTS TO BE ACCESSIBLE TO QUALIFIED UTILITY PERSONNEL, BE LOCKABLE, AND BE A

VISIBLE-BREAK SWITCH

38. RAPID SHUTDOWN OF ENERGIZED CONDUCTORS BEYOND 10 FT OF PV ARRAY OR 5 FT INSIDE A BUILDING

WITHIN 10 SECONDS. CONTROLLED CONDUCTORS ≤30V AND ≤240VA [NEC CODE]. LOCATION OF LABEL

ACCORDING TO AHJ.

39. ALL OCPD RATINGS AND TYPES SPECIFIED ACCORDING TO NEC CODES.



MOUNTING DETAILS

PV-3.0

CUSTOMER INFORMATION

NAME&ADDRESS:

45°02'11.7"N 93°45'31.9"W

AHJ:MN-COUNTY HENNEPIN

UTILITY:WRIGHT HENNEPIN COOP ELECTRIC

ASSOCIATION

SYSTEM INFORMATION

DESIGNER/CHECKED BY:

PR/RR

SCALE:AS NOTED PAPER SIZE:17"x11"

JEFF CUNNINGHAM

9226 US-12, DELANO, MN 55328

ENGINEER OF RECORD

DATE:12/17/20

REV:A

10361 JAMESTOWN ST NE  BLAINE, MN 55449

763-450-9763

LIC:ELEC#EA006457

LIC:GEN#BC638279

PROJECT NUMBER:CCEN-001549

DC SYSTEM SIZE: 48000W

AC SYSTEM SIZE: 38400W

MODULES:

(120)JINKO SOLAR JKM400M-72HL-V

INVERTER:

(5)SMA SUNNY BOY  SB7.7-1TP-US-41(240V,1PH)

PV-3.0

B MOUNTING DETAILS

SCALE: 3/32" = 1'-0"

PV-3.0

B1

SCALE: NTS

MODULES DATA

JINKO SOLAR JKM400M-72HL-V

MODULE DIMS 79.06"x39.45"x1.57"

SITE INFORMATION

AZIMUTH 180°

PITCH 30°

NO. OF MODULES 120

MOUNTING DETAILS

VERTICAL RAIL HORIZONTAL RAIL VERTICAL POST PV MODULES

ARRAY LOCATION

98'-8"

1
3
'
-
2
"

6'-8" TYP

6
'
-
8
"
 
T
Y
P

98'-8"

1
3
'
-
2
"

6'-8" TYP

6
'
-
8
"
 
T
Y
P

VERTICAL RAIL HORIZONTAL RAIL VERTICAL POST PV MODULES

ARRAY-01

ARRAY-02

AutoCAD SHX Text
AERIAL VIEW



STRUCTURAL DETAILS-1

PV-3.1

CUSTOMER INFORMATION

NAME&ADDRESS:

45°02'11.7"N 93°45'31.9"W

AHJ:MN-COUNTY HENNEPIN

UTILITY:WRIGHT HENNEPIN COOP ELECTRIC

ASSOCIATION

SYSTEM INFORMATION

DESIGNER/CHECKED BY:

PR/RR

SCALE:AS NOTED PAPER SIZE:17"x11"

JEFF CUNNINGHAM

9226 US-12, DELANO, MN 55328

ENGINEER OF RECORD

DATE:12/17/20

REV:A

10361 JAMESTOWN ST NE  BLAINE, MN 55449

763-450-9763

LIC:ELEC#EA006457

LIC:GEN#BC638279

PROJECT NUMBER:CCEN-001549

DC SYSTEM SIZE: 48000W

AC SYSTEM SIZE: 38400W

MODULES:

(120)JINKO SOLAR JKM400M-72HL-V

INVERTER:

(5)SMA SUNNY BOY  SB7.7-1TP-US-41(240V,1PH)

GROUND MOUNT DETAIL

SCALE: NTS

MID-CLAMP & END CLAMP DETAIL

PV MODULE

 RAIL

END CLAMP

PV MODULE

 RAIL

MID CLAMP

SCALE: NTS

BELOW

GRADE

3
0
"

1

3

'

-

2

3

4

"

6'-8"

PV MODULES

RAIL

HELICAL PILING

3

0

°

UPPER ANCHOR

REAR

LOWER

ANCHOR

EAST/WEST PURLIN

UPPER ANCHOR

FRONT

HARD BRACE

NORTH/SOUTH

CHORD

9
'
-
2

5 8

"

4
'

E
M

B
E
D

M
E
N

T

3/8"-16 SER

FLANGE HEX BOLT

3
'
-
6
 

3 8

"



STRUCTURAL DETAILS-2

PV-3.2

CUSTOMER INFORMATION

NAME&ADDRESS:

45°02'11.7"N 93°45'31.9"W

AHJ:MN-COUNTY HENNEPIN

UTILITY:WRIGHT HENNEPIN COOP ELECTRIC

ASSOCIATION

SYSTEM INFORMATION

DESIGNER/CHECKED BY:

PR/RR

SCALE:AS NOTED PAPER SIZE:17"x11"

JEFF CUNNINGHAM

9226 US-12, DELANO, MN 55328

ENGINEER OF RECORD

REV:A

10361 JAMESTOWN ST NE  BLAINE, MN 55449

763-450-9763

LIC:ELEC#EA006457

LIC:GEN#BC638279

PROJECT NUMBER:CCEN-001549

DC SYSTEM SIZE: 48000W

AC SYSTEM SIZE: 38400W

MODULES:

(120)JINKO SOLAR JKM400M-72HL-V

INVERTER:

(5)SMA SUNNY BOY  SB7.7-1TP-US-41(240V,1PH)

DATE:12/17/20



D I S T R I B U T I O N

DISTRIBUTION



D I S T R I B U T I O N



D I S T R I B U T I O N



D I S T R I B U T I O N



D I S T R I B U T I O N

·

·



D I S T R I B U T I O N



D I S T R I B U T I O N



D I S T R I B U T I O N



Kuka	Equestrian	Center	CUP	Amendment	Request	 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	1	
 

City of Independence 
Request for a Conditional Use Permit Amendment to Allow a Tack Room  

Associated with the Commercial Riding Stable Located on the  
Property at 4405 County Road 92 N. 

 
To: City Council 

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: April 6, 2021 

Applicant: Mike and Bonnie Kuka 

Owner: Mike and Bonnie Kuka 

Location: 4405 County Road 92 N 

 
Request: 
Mike Kuka (Applicant/Owner) is requesting the following action for the property located at 4405 County 
Road 92 N. (PID No. 0411824310002) in the City of Independence, MN: 
 

a. An amendment to the existing conditional use permit, allowing a commercial riding stable, to 
construct a new detached accessory structure to be used as a tack room on the property 
located at 4405 County Road 92 N. 

 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located on the west side of CSAH 92 and north of CSAH 11.  The property is comprised of 
rolling topography, ponds, wetlands and pasture.  The applicant has two properties under the same 
ownership.  The properties have the following characteristics: 
 

Property Information 4405 County Road 92 N 
 Zoning: Agriculture 
 Comprehensive Plan: Agriculture 
 Acreage:  PID No. 04-118-24-31-0002 – 80.07 acres  
      
 
 
 
 
 



Kuka	Equestrian	Center	CUP	Amendment	Request	 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	2	
 

  
Aerial View of 4405 County Road 92 N 

 
 
 
Previous Approval/Conditional Use Permit: 
The City approved a conditional use permit (CUP) for the subject property in 2016 to allow a commercial 
riding stable.  The CUP was amended in 2018 to allow additional horses to be boarded on the property.  The 
applicant is now seeking an amendment to allow a tack room to be located on the property.    A commercial 
riding stable is further defined in the City’s ordinance as follows: 
 

Subd. 69. "Riding stable, commercial." Stables, barns, and facilities for the keeping and riding of 
horses, both indoor and outdoor, operated as a livery or boarding stable, or other commercial recreational 
use.  
 



Kuka	Equestrian	Center	CUP	Amendment	Request	 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	3	
 

The commercial riding stable currently permitted allows the boarding of horses as well as hosting a limited 
number of additional equestrian related events within the facility.  The proposed tack room would be 
located near the pen areas on the south side of the property.  The applicant is currently using a mobile 
trailer as a tack room on the property.  Staff notified the applicant that the City would require an amendment 
for any type of structure on the property including a temporary trailer.   
 

 
 
Staff has reviewed the request and offers several discussion points for further consideration by the City. 
 

1. The applicant is proposing to use the existing trailer for several years prior to being able to 
construct a permanent structure in this location.  Staff is generally agreeable to the use of the 
trailer for a temporary tack room given its location and proximity to surrounding properties.   
 



Kuka	Equestrian	Center	CUP	Amendment	Request	 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	4	
 

2. The applicant has noted that they intend to construct a permanent structure in the future.  The City 
could allow an amendment to the CUP which would allow the temporary trailer for period of time (5 
years or similar) at which time the permanent structure would need to be constructed and the 
temporary structure removed. 

 
3. The applicant further noted that the location of the proposed tack room near the existing pens is 

important to the operation of the commercial riding stable. 
 

4. The temporary trailer could not be occupied as a temporary residence or for living quarters at any 
time. 

 
Commercial riding stables are permitted as conditional uses in the Agriculture zoning district.  In order for 
the City to consider approval of an amendment to the conditional use permit request it must find that it 
meets the criteria established within the zoning ordinance.  The criteria for granting a conditional use permit 
are clearly delineated in the City’s Zoning Ordinance (Section 520.11 subd. 1, a-i) as follows: 
 

1. The conditional use will not adversely affect the health, safety, morals and general welfare of 
occupants of surrounding lands. 

2. The proposed use will not have a detrimental effect on the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the proposes already permitted or on the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant in the 
area. 

3. Existing roads and proposed access roads will be adequate to accommodate anticipated 
traffic. 

4. Sufficient off-street parking and loading space will be provided to serve the proposed use. 
5. The proposed conditional use can be adequately serviced by public utilities or on-site sewage 

treatment, and sufficient area of suitable soils for on-site sewage treatment is available to 
protect the city form pollution hazards. 

6. The proposal includes adequate provision for protection of natural drainage systems, natural 
topography, tree growth, water courses, wetlands, historic sites and similar ecological and 
environmental features. 

7. The proposal includes adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, 
noise, or vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance. 

8. The proposed condition use is consistent with the comprehensive plan of the City of 
Independence. 

9. The proposed use will not stimulate growth incompatible with prevailing density standards. 
 

The subject property is located directly south of the Shrine Horse Facility which operates as a commercial 
riding stable.  The relative size of the property, its access to County Road 92 and geographic seclusion 
help to mitigate potential issues related to the proposed tack room addition.  The City is not aware of any 
current complaints or concerns relating to the operation of the commercial riding stable on this property.   
 
The proposed conditional use permit amendment to allow a tack room (temporary trailer and then 
permanent detached accessory structure) is consistent with the Agricultural nature of the property and 



Kuka	Equestrian	Center	CUP	Amendment	Request	 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	5	
 

surrounding land uses.  The Planning Commission will need to determine if the requested conditional use 
permit amendment meets the criteria for granting a conditional use permit. 
 
 
Neighbor Comments: 

The City has not received any verbal or written comments at the time this report was prepared.   

 

Planning Commission Discussion and Recommendation: 

Planning Commissioners reviewed the request and asked questions of the applicant and staff.  
Commissioners discussed the temporary use of the trailer and the timing for the replacement with a 
permanent structure.  It was noted that the application intends to replace the temporary structury within the 
five-year window considered.  Commissioners found that the request for an amendment met the criteria 
established in the City’s zoning ordinance and confirmed that the conditions limiting use to a tack room were 
sufficient.  Commissioners recommended approval of the CUP amendment. 

 

Recommendation: 

Planning Commissioners recommended approval of the request for a conditional use permit amendment with the 
following findings and conditions: 
 

1. The proposed conditional use permit amendment request meets all applicable conditions and 
restrictions stated Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning 
Ordinance. 

 
2. The conditional use permit will be reviewed annually by the City to ensure conformance with 

the conditions set forth in the resolution. 
   

3. All conditions stated in Resolution No. 16-1213-02 AND 18-0710-01 shall remain in force. 
 

4. Approval of the conditional use permit amendment shall be subject to the following additional 
conditions: 

 
a) The City will allow the temporary use of the existing trailer as a tack room for a period not 

to exceed five (5) years from the date of City Council approval.   
 

b) The temporary trailer will need to be removed from the location upon completion of a 
permanent detached accessory structure.   

 



Kuka	Equestrian	Center	CUP	Amendment	Request	 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	6	
 

c) The City will permit a permanent tack room in the location designated on the approved 
site plan attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The overall size of the permanent detached 
accessory structure shall be less than 1,500 SF.   

 
d) The temporary trailer shall not be occupied as a temporary residence or for living 

quarters at any time. 
 

5. The applicant shall pay for all costs associated with processing and recording the application 
for a conditional use permit amendment. 

 
Attachments: 

1. Application 
2. Proposed Site Plan/Picture 

 



 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

 
CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 

RESOLUTION NO. 21-0406-02 
 

 
A RESOLUTION GRANTING APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 

AMENDMENT TO ALLOW A TACK ROOM ASSOCIATED WITH THE COMMERCIAL 
RIDING STABLE ON THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 4405 COUNTY ROAD 92 

 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the 
laws of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a comprehensive plan in 2010 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a zoning ordinance and other official controls to assist 
in implementing the comprehensive plan; and  

WHEREAS, Mike (the “Owner/Applicant”) submitted a request for a conditional use 
permit amendment to allow a tack room to be constructed and in association with the 
Commercial Riding Stable operation on the property located at 4405 County Road 92 (PID No. 
04-118-24-31-0002) (the “Property”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the Property is legally described as: 
 

; and 
 



 

WHEREAS, the Property is zoned Agriculture; and 
 
WHEREAS the requested conditional use permit amendment meets all requirements, 

standards and specifications of the City of Independence zoning ordinance for Agriculture lots; 
and 

WHEREAS the Planning Commission held a public hearing on March 16, 2021 to review 
the application for a conditional use permit amendment, following mailed and published noticed 
as required by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and 
has now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval; and  

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by 
Mike Kuka for a Conditional Use Permit Amendment to allow a tack room in association with 
the Commercial Riding Stable on the subject property per the City’s zoning regulations with the 
following conditions: 
 

1. The proposed conditional use permit amendment request meets all applicable conditions 
and restrictions stated Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence 
Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2. The conditional use permit will be reviewed annually by the City to ensure conformance 
with the conditions set forth in the resolution. 
 

3. All conditions stated in Resolution No. 16-1213-02 AND 18-0710-01 shall remain in 
force. 
 

4. Approval of the conditional use permit amendment shall be subject to the following 
additional conditions: 

 
a) The City will allow the temporary use of the existing trailer as a tack room for a 

period not to exceed five (5) years from the date of City Council approval.   
 

b) The temporary trailer will need to be removed from the location upon completion of a 
permanent detached accessory structure.   

 
c) The City will permit a permanent tack room in the location designated on the 

approved site plan attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The overall size of the permanent 
detached accessory structure shall be less than 1,500 SF.   

 
d) The temporary trailer shall not be occupied as a temporary residence or for living 

quarters at any time. 
 



 

5. The applicant shall pay for all costs associated with processing and recording the 
application for a conditional use permit amendment. 
 

6. The Resolution shall be recorded with Hennepin County. 
 

 
 

This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on this 
6th day of April 2021, by a vote of ____ayes and ____nays. 
         

______________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

EXHIBIT A 
(Site Plan) 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



OFFICE
Typewriter
Add To CUP a Tack Room out by 

OFFICE
Typewriter
New Paddocks south of house

OFFICE
Typewriter

OFFICE
Typewriter
4405 County Road 92 North

OFFICE
Typewriter
X

OFFICE
Typewriter



OFFICE
Typewriter

OFFICE
Typewriter
Michael - Bonnie Kuka

OFFICE
Typewriter
4405 County Road 92 North

OFFICE
Typewriter
Independence, MN. 55359

OFFICE
Typewriter
763-286-3449

OFFICE
Typewriter
kukaequestriancenter@gmail.com

OFFICE
Typewriter
Same

OFFICE
Typewriter



OFFICE
Perimeter
190' 

OFFICE
Rectangle

OFFICE
Rectangle

OFFICE
Rectangle

OFFICE
Rectangle

OFFICE
Typewriter

OFFICE
Typewriter
Paddocks

OFFICE
Typewriter
New TackRoom

OFFICE
Arrow





6000	Providence	Curve	Variance	Request		 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	1	
 

City of Independence 
Request for a Variance from the Side and Rear Yard Setbacks for the  

Property Located at 6000 Providence Curve  
 

To: City Council  
From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: April 6, 2021 
Applicant: Mark Kroskin 

Owner: Mark Kroskin 
Location: 6000 Providence Curve 

 
 
Request: 
Mark Kroskin (Applicant/Owner) is requesting the following action for the property located at 6000 
Providence Curve (PID No. 1411824420008) in the City of Independence, MN:   

 

a. A variance to allow a detached accessory structure to be located closer to the side and 
rear property lines than otherwise permitted on the property located at 6000 
Providence Curve. 

 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The subject property is located at 6000 Providence Curve.  There is an existing home and detached 
accessory structure located on the subject property.   
 

Property Information: 6000 Providence Curve 
 Zoning: Rural Residential  
 Comprehensive Plan: Rural Residential 
 Acreage: 1.92 acres  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



6000	Providence	Curve	Variance	Request		 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	2	
 

6000 Providence Curve (blue outline) 

 
 
Discussion: 
The applicant approached the City about the possibility of locating a new detached accessory structure in 
the northeast corner of their property.  The applicant noted that they would like some additional storage 
space and identified the proposed location as the spot most desired for a multitude of reasons.  The 
proposed detached accessory structure would be 1,050 SF (30’ x 35’) and would have a double overhead 
door.   The proposed building would include a second story storage loft.  The exterior building materials 
proposed would match the siding and roof of the house.   
 
The applicant is seeking a variance from the rear and side yard setbacks to allow the proposed structure.  
The variances requested would allow the construction of a detached accessory structure to be located 
closer to the east and north property lines than permitted by the City.  The applicant is proposing to setback 
the proposed structure 10’-0” from the east property line and 10’-0” from the north property line.  The 
required rear yard setback is 40’ and the required side yard setback is 15’. 
 



6000	Providence	Curve	Variance	Request		 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	3	
 

 
  

 

 
Setbacks for RR-Rural Residential Properties are as follows: 

 
Side Yard Setback for Detached Accessory Structures: 
 Required: 15’-0” 
 Proposed (East): 10’-0” (variance of 5’-0”) 
 
Rear Yard Setback for Detached Accessory Structures: 
 Required: 40’-0” 
 Proposed: (North): 10’-0” (variance of 30’-0”) 
 
There are several factors to consider relating to granting a variance.  The City’s ordinance has established 
criteria for consideration in granting a variance.   
 
520.21. Standards for granting variances. Subdivision1. The City Council may grant a variance from the 
terms of this zoning code, including restrictions placed on nonconformities, in cases where: 1) the variance 
is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of this zoning code; 2) the variance is consistent with 
the comprehensive plan; and 3) the applicant establishes that there are practical difficulties in complying 
with the zoning code (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  

REQUIRED REAR YARD SETBACK IS 40’ 

REQUIRED SIDE YARD 
 SETBACK IS 15’ 



6000	Providence	Curve	Variance	Request		 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	4	
 

Subd. 2. An applicant for a variance must demonstrate that there are practical difficulties in  
complying with the zoning code. For such purposes, “practical difficulties” means:  

 
(a) The property owner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not 

permitted by the zoning code;  
 

(b) the plight of the property owner is due to circumstances unique to the property not 
created by the landowner;  

 
(c) the variance, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  

 
Economic considerations alone do not constitute practical difficulties. Practical difficulties include, but are 
not limited to, inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  
 
Subd. 3. The City Council shall not grant a variance to permit a use that is not allowed under the  
zoning code based on the zoning classification of the affected property. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  
 
520.23. Conditions and restrictions. The board of adjustments may recommend, and the City Council may 
impose conditions on a variance. Conditions must be directly related to and must bear a rough 
proportionality to the impact created by the variance. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)  
 
Consideration of the criteria for granting a variance: 

a. Residential use of the property is consistent with the Rural Residential District.  The applicants are 
seeking a variance that exceeds the typical setback granted for properties in this area.  
 

b. The property backs up to an Outlot owned by the Providence HOA.  The City recently adopted 
standards that would allow the City’s ABRC to consider allowing relief of the rear yard setback to a 
minimum of 15’ (see actual ordinance provision below).  The applicant was provided with this 
information. 

 
a. The property shares a rear yard property line with an Outlot, and the 

setback will be at least 15 feet.    
 

There are several criteria that would need to be met in order for the ABRC to consider granting 
relief to the setback.  One of those criteria is consent or agreement on the reduced setback from 
the property owner(s) of the adjacent property (HOA). 

 
c. The character of the surrounding area is residential.  The proposed detached accessory structure 

would be in keeping and consistent with the surrounding uses found in this neighborhood.  
 

d. There is an existing detached accessory structure located behind the house on the subject 
property. The overall size of this structure is approximately 475 SF.  The City allows a maximum of 
1,850 SF for the total permitted for all detached accessory structures on properties less than 2.5 



6000	Providence	Curve	Variance	Request		 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	5	
 

acres.  The total SF in the after condition would be 1,525 SF which is less than the maximum 
permitted. 

 
e. The alternate septic site location is located in the general vicinity of the proposed detached 

accessory structure.  Moving the structure further away from the property lines (to the west and 
south) potentially encroaches further into the alternate site.  This site is an estimated area and 
could likely be adjusted to the south and east when needed in the future. 

 
f. The applicant has noted that they would like to maintain the existing evergreen trees in this area 

and the proposed location makes this possibility more feasible. 
 
 
Public Comments: 
The City received written acknowledgement from the Providence HOA that it approves the requested 
variance. 
 
 
Planning Commission Discussion and Recommendation: 
Planning Commissioners discussed the application and asked questions of staff and the application.  
Commissioners reviewed more specifically the existing property conditions and the need for an additional 
five-foot encroachment into the setback on both sides of the proposed shed.  Commissioners asked about 
the location of the secondary septic site and its proximity to the proposed shed.  Commissioners discussed 
the existing trees on the property.  Commissioners ultimately found that the request for a variance from the 
north (rear property line) property line would meet the criteria recently established in the amended zoning 
ordinance and could have been considered by the Accessory Building Review Committee (ABRC).  
Commissioners recommended approval of the rear yard setback variance only with a condition that the 
applicant provide written correspondence from the Providence HOA acknowledging consent to the reduced 
setback.  The City has received the written acknowledgement.  Commissioners did not recommend 
approval of the reduced side yard setback. 
 
 
Recommendation: 
Planning Commissioners recommended approval of a variance to allow a reduced rear yard setback of 15 feet 
with the following findings and conditions:   
 

1. The requested variance request meets all applicable conditions and restrictions stated in Chapter V, 
Section 520.19, Procedures on variances, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 

 
2. The City finds that the criteria for granting a variance have been satisfied by the applicant.  

Specifically, the City finds the following: 
 

a. Residential use of the property is consistent with the Rural Residential District.   
 



6000	Providence	Curve	Variance	Request		 4.06.2021
	 	
	 Page	6	
 

b. The property backs up to an Outlot owned by the Providence HOA and they have provided 
written acknowledgement of their approval of the requested variance to the City. 

 
c. The character of the surrounding area is residential.  The proposed detached accessory 

structure would be in keeping and consistent with the surrounding uses found in this 
neighborhood.  
 

3. The variance will permit a 30-foot reduction (40 feet required, 10 feet permitted) of the rear yard 
setback (north property line) and no reduction of the side yard setback east property line which 
requires a 15-foot setback) to allow the proposed detached accessory structure as depicted on the 
site plan and building plans attached hereto as Exhibit A.   Any modification changes or alteration to 
the structure that does not meet applicable setbacks in the future would require additional review 
and approval in the form of a variance. 

 
4. The applicant shall submit a drainage plan to the City at the time of building permit application.  The 

drainage plan will be reviewed by the City to ensure that the proposed improvements do not 
adversely impact any of the surrounding properties. 

 

5. The applicant shall pay all fees to the City associated with the review and approval of the requested 
variance. 

 
 
Attachments: 

1. Application 
2. Site Plan  
3. Building Plans 
4. Original Survey 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

 
CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 

RESOLUTION NO. 21-0406-03 
 

 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVIING AN APPLICATION FOR A VARIANCE   
TO ALLOW A REDUCED REAR YARD SETBACK  

FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 6000 PROVIDENCE CURVE 
 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the 
laws of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a comprehensive plan in 2010 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a zoning ordinance and other official controls to assist 
in implementing the comprehensive plan; and  

WHEREAS, Mark Kroskin, (the “Applicant/Owner”) submitted an application for a 
variance to allow a reduced front yard setback on the property located at 6000 Providence Curve 
(PID No. 14-118-24-42-0008) (the “Property”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Property is zoned RR- Rural Residential; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Property is legally described as: 

LOT 1, Block 1, PROVIDENCE BY THE LAKE; and 

WHEREAS the requested Variance meets all requirements, standards and specifications 
of the City of Independence zoning ordinance for Agriculture lots; and 

WHEREAS the Planning Commission held a public hearing on March 16, 2021 to review 
the application for a variance, following mailed and published noticed as required by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and 
has now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by 



 

Mark Kroskin and grants a variance for the property in accordance with the City’s zoning 
regulations with the following findings and conditions: 

1. The proposed variance request meets all applicable conditions and restrictions stated in 
Chapter V, Section 520.19, Procedures on variances, in the City of Independence Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 

2. The City finds that the criteria for granting a variance have been satisfied by the 
applicant.  Specifically, the City finds the following: 

 
a) Residential use of the property is consistent with the Rural Residential District.   

 
b) The property backs up to an Outlot owned by the Providence HOA and they have 

provided written acknowledgement of their approval of the requested variance to the 
City. 

 
c) The character of the surrounding area is residential.  The proposed detached 

accessory structure would be in keeping and consistent with the surrounding uses 
found in this neighborhood.  

 
3. The variance will permit a 30-foot reduction (40 feet required, 10 feet permitted) of the 

rear yard setback (north property line) and no reduction of the side yard setback east 
property line which requires a 15-foot setback) to allow the proposed detached accessory 
structure as depicted on the site plan and building plans attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
 

4. Any modification changes or alteration to the structure that does not meet applicable 
setbacks in the future would require additional review and approval in the form of a 
variance. 

 
5. The Applicant shall submit a drainage plan to the City at the time of building permit 

application.  The drainage plan will be reviewed by the City to ensure that the proposed 
improvements do not adversely impact any of the surrounding properties. 

 
6. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review and recording of 

the requested variance. 
 
 

This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on this 
6th day of April 2021, by a vote of ____ayes and ____nays. 
         

______________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 



 

EXHIBIT A 
(Site Plan) 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Applicant Information Owner Information

Name: Mark Kroskin

Address: 6000 Providence Curve
Independence, Minnesota 55359

Primary Phone: 6126705314

Email: mfkroskin@mfkventuremanagement.com

Name: Mark Kroskin

Address: 6000 Providence Curve
Independence, Minnesota 55359

Primary Phone: 6126705314

Email: mfkroskin@mfkventuremanagement.com

Property Address:

PID:

Planning Application Type: Variance

Description:

Supporting Documents: Site Survey (Existing Conditions), Site Survey (Proposed Conditions), Building Plans

Signature:















Hilltop Farm – Concept Subdivision Plan Review Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Concept Plan Review of a Proposed 13 Lot 
Subdivision on the Subject Property Located Between CSAH 90 and CSAH 83 

and Generally Known as the Independence Airport Property 
 

To: City Council   

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: April 6, 2021 

Applicant: Bryant Johnson 

Owner: Hilltop Farm, Inc. 

Location: Property Identified by PID No. 26-118-24-13-0001  

 

Request: 
Bryant Johnson (Applicant) and Hilltop Farm, Inc. (Owner) is requesting a concept plan review for a 
subdivision of the property located between CSAH 90 and CSAH 83 and identified as PID No. 26-118-24-
13-0001.  The proposed subdivision would ultimately require the rezoning of the property and a minor 
subdivision and would create eleven (13) rural residential lots. 
 
  
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located on the east side of CSAH 90, north of the future Turner Road and south of Main 
Street.  There is a grass air strip on the property and several detached airplane hangars.  The property is 
comprised primarily of agriculture land with some woodlands.   
 

 
Property Information: PID No. 26-118-24-13-0001 

 Zoning: Agriculture 
Comprehensive Plan: Rural Residential (2040 Plan – designates part of the property to be sewered 
residential) 
Acreage: ~150 acres (60 acres considered for subdivision with 90 remaining) 

  

 

 

 



Hilltop Farm – Concept Subdivision Plan Review Page 2 

 

Aerial Photograph of Property 

 

Discussion: 
The applicant is asking the City to consider and provide feedback relating to a concept plan for the 
proposed subdivision of a portion of the subject property.  A concept plan allows the City the opportunity to 
initially review the proposed subdivision and provide feedback and comments to the applicant prior to the 
submittal of any applications for rezoning and preliminary plat.  In order for the City to ultimately consider 
approval of a plan similar to the proposed concept plan, the following steps would be required: 
 

1. Rezone the property to the new zoning district. 
 

2. Consider Preliminary Plat approval. 
 

3. Consider Final Plat approval. 
 
Comprehensive Plan/Rezoning 
 
The City is in the process of updating the Comprehensive Plan from the 2030 plan to the 2040 plan.  The 
City’s 2030 plan identifies this property as Rural Residential.  The rural residential designation allows for a 

PORTION OF PROPERTY 
PROPOSED TO BE DEVELOPED 



Hilltop Farm – Concept Subdivision Plan Review Page 3 

 

general development density of 1 unit per 5 acres.  The 2040 Comprehensive Plan guides the eastern 
portion of this property for sewered residential.  
 

2030 Comprehensive Land Use Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Hilltop Farm – Concept Subdivision Plan Review Page 4 

 

2040 Comprehensive Land Use Plan 

 
 
Proposed Subdivision Concept Plan 
 
The applicant has prepared a concept plan for review by the City.  The City has preliminarily reviewed this 
plan and provides a general review if the various aspects within this report.  The 2030 and 2040 
Comprehensive Plan both guide the western portion of this property for RR-Rural Residential.  Rural 
Residential properties can realize the following number of lots:   

 
Subd. 3. Density. Lots of record in the rural residential district may be divided or 

subdivided into the following maximum number of lots, said maximum number to include 
the lot for any existing dwelling unit or other principal use: (Amended, Ord. 2010-01)  
 
 Area of Lot      Maximum Number  
 of Record      of Lots Permitted 
 7.5 acres or less     One  
 7.6 through 12.5 acres    Two  
 12.6 through 17.5 acres    Three  
 17.6 through 22.5 acres    Four  
 22.6 through 27.5 acres    Five  



Hilltop Farm – Concept Subdivision Plan Review Page 5 

 

 27.6 through 32.5 acres    Six  
 32.6 through 37.5 acres    Seven  
 37.6 through 42.5 acres    Eight  
 42.6 through 47.5 acres    Nine, plus one addn. lot for every five  

addn. acres of land. 
 
Based on a traditional Rural Residential subdivision, it is estimated that western portion of this property 
guided for RR can yield 12 lots (9, plus (62.6-47.5 = 15.1) (15.1/5 = 3).  The applicant is asking for the City 
to consider granting 13 lots based on a different way to calculate density (taking 62.6 – 42.6 = 20) (20/5 = 
4) which would yield 13 lots.  The City has historically calculated density based on the high-end number 
shown in the table and not the low-end number.  Further direction will need to be provided relating to the 
density permitted. 
 
Concept Plan Considerations: 
 
The City has discussed the potential subdivision of this property with the applicant.  The City discussed a 
couple of key considerations relating to the future development of this property and adjacent properties.  The 
City noted that the Metropolitan Council has identified a potential future (beyond 2040) sewer expansion area 
which encompasses this property (see map below). 

 



Hilltop Farm – Concept Subdivision Plan Review Page 6 

 

The initial review of the subdivision contemplates a high-level review only of the proposed concept 
development plan.  A detailed review of the storm water, grading, wetlands and infrastructure details will be 
completed prior to consideration of any future applications.  The City does not formally approve or deny a 
concept plan.  The concept plan review will provide direction and comments to the applicant for their use 
during the preparation of future applications.  The following comments should be considered by the City: 
 

1. The proposed plan shows lots that would be accessed via a new cul-de-sac that would be 
connected to County Road 90. Hennepin County would ultimately need to approve any proposed 
road connection and may require both northbound and southbound turn lanes.  It does not appear 
that the proposed access point would meet the County’s spacing guidelines from Turner Road.  
This property does have the ability to be accessed via the Tuner Road right of way.   
 

a. Hennepin County has preliminarily reviewed the concept plan and provided the following 
comments: 
 
We offer the following comments generally in support of city notes included in the city’s 
summary report along with some additional consideration: 

 
• We do not support the proposed cul-de-sac street app. 400’ N of Turner Rd (660’ 

spacing guidelines minimum) 
 

• We very much support the idea of directing access to Turner Rd and requiring the 
developer stub the street to city specifications at this alignment 

 
• Northside alignment to Quass Cutoff Rd is perhaps another preferred access 

alignment 
 

• Regardless of street alignment, we recommend full left and right-turn lanes for the 
access to provide residents and visitors a safer, more comfortable deceleration into 
the site (11 SF homes/50mph/ADT 2,500) 

 
• Aligning to existing public streets while strongly preferred, presents a challenge to 

match turn lanes for the existing west side of intersection. We welcome further 
discussion with the city on how best to deliver this amenity as well (now or in the 
future). Unfortunately, I do not see a pavement overlay on our schedule (2021-2024) 
at this time 

 
•  If/when replatting we support dedication to match a 50’ half right-of-way as 

proposed along both CSAH 90, and CSAH 83. There likely would need to be additional 
ROW at turn lanes however 

 
• We recommend the city consider a ‘ghost plat’ of how to incorporate this new 

development into a future internal planned street network (esp N-S) with local 
connections to existing streets. Need to minimize connections to county road 

 



Hilltop Farm – Concept Subdivision Plan Review Page 7 

 

We appreciate any further consideration and welcome additional discussion as needed 
 

2. The proposed development does not consider the use of the existing right of way known as the 
unimproved portion of Turner Road to the south.  The City should discuss the future of Turner 
Road and whether or not this development should incorporate Turner Road into the design.  At a 
minimum, the City may want to consider requiring dedication of the additional 33 feet of right of 
way.   
 

3. The length of the proposed cul-de-sac (greater than ¼ mile) should be noted by the City.  In 
addition, the City may want to consider a future connection of the proposed road to the east.  The 
current plan does not provide for a future connection.  The City would generally require that roads 
be extended to the edge of the property unless it is not feasible for a future road connection due to 
natural features, topography, etc.  
 

4. The property abuts an industrial property to the north.  The applicant should consider buffering and 
or berms along the north property line to mitigate the existing industrial development. 

 
5. There are probable wetlands that show up on the national wetland inventory in several locations on 

this property (see image below).  A wetland inventory will be required to be prepared and submitted 
with preliminary plat. 

 

 

6. The applicant will need to confirm that all lots meet the minimum of 2.5 acres of upland (buildable) 
area.  In addition, the applicant will need to confirm that all lots can accommodate a primary and 
secondary septic site.   

 
7. It appears that all of the proposed lots meet the minimum lot frontage requirements. 

 
8. The overall property would need to be split in order to accommodate the proposed development.  

The remainder 90 acres would become a separate lot and likely not plated at this time. 
 

9. The applicant will need to provide more information relating to the ownership and use of Outlot A.    
 

10. It is anticipated that the proposed homes would be custom built. 
 



Hilltop Farm – Concept Subdivision Plan Review Page 8 

 

11. The proposed concept subdivision would be subject to the City’s park dedication requirements.  No 
park land dedication is shown on the concept plans.  The City should provide feedback relating to 
possible park dedication on the subject property.  It may be desirable for the City to consider some 
park development on this property.  Discussion relating to park dedication should be provided by 
the City.  The standard park dedication per lot fee would otherwise be applicable to all newly 
developed lots.    

 
Staff would like direction and feedback relating to the general design and layout of the proposed subdivision.  The 
City will need to provide direction relating to whether or not Turner Road should be maintained in its current location 
and eventually improved to a full road section.  This determination will likely be necessary prior to the consideration 
of this development moving forward.  The City should consider whether or not a future path should be maintained 
for the extension of utilities to the west noting that there is not another undeveloped route.  Consideration of a 
cluster development that would maintain a developable area that could accommodate the expansion of utilities in 
the future could be considered.  The City should also provide additional feedback and direction relating to the 
development of Turner Road, future use and dedication of additional right of way. 
 
 
Planning Commission Discussion: 
Planning Commissioners discussed the proposed concept plan and asked questions of the applicant and staff.  
Commissioners noted that access is going to be an important issue to resolve prior to moving forward.  
Commissioners noted that Turner Road should be considered and even if not fully constructed at this time, provide 
the point of access into the development rather than the proposed “mid-block” connection to CSAH 90.  
Commissioners noted that there are properties located along Drake Drive that need access to an improved road. 
 
 
Recommendation: 
The City Council should review the plans and provide feedback to the applicant pertaining to the proposed concept 
plan.  No formal action can be taken by City Council on the concept plan.  There are additional steps that will need 
to be taken for any development of this property to occur.   
 

 
Attachments: 

1. Application 
2. Concept Site Plan with Aerial 
3. 2030 Comprehensive Land Use Map  
4. 2040 Comprehensive Land Use Map 
5. Metropolitan Council Future Sewer Area Map 

         

 
 



1
2

3 4

5

8

9

10

11

12

6

GUSTAVUS DRIVE

C
O

. 
  
R

D
. 
  
9
0

TURNER RD

7

TURNER
RD

QUASS
CUT OFF

13

SHEET NO.          OF         SHEETS

REV. NO.     DATE          BY                          DESCRIPTION DESIGNED    DRAWN

CHECKED

DATE:

PROJECT NO:

Engineers & Land Surveyors, Inc.
SSOCIATES

9 West Division Street
Buffalo, MN 55313
(763)682-4727
Fax: (763)682-3522

www.ottoassociates.com

2-9-2021

CONCEPT PLANHILLTOP FARM
HILLTOP FARM, INC.
MAPLE PLAIN, MN

20-0476

1 1

N

Feet

0 100 200

1"=100'

N

Vicinity Map

I hereby certify that this survey, plan, or report was prepared by my
or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly Licensed Land
Surveyor under the laws of the State of Minnesota.

__________________________________________________
Paul E. Otto
License #40062                 Date:_________________________

AutoCAD SHX Text
Edge of Bituminous

AutoCAD SHX Text
Edge of Woods

AutoCAD SHX Text
Edge of Woods

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
Edge of Gravel

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
Delineated Wetland

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROXIMATE POWERLINE EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
3-24-21

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.E.O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T.R.K.

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.E.O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION: PART OF THE S 1/2 OF THE NW 1/4 OF SECTION 26, T. 118, R. 24, HENNEPIN COUNTY, MN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL PLAT AREA = 62.6 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW  1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE  1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW  1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE  1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEC. 26, T. 118, R. 24

AutoCAD SHX Text
Not to Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURNER RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO RD 90

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUASS CUT  OFF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAKE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAKE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
THREE OAKS AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAIN ST W

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO RD 83

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERTOWN RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
1	  3/1/21   J.J.A.		Layout  3/1/21   J.J.A.		LayoutLayout

AutoCAD SHX Text
2	  3/2/21   J.J.A.		Layout  3/2/21   J.J.A.		LayoutLayout

AutoCAD SHX Text
3	  3/3/21   J.J.A.		Layout  3/3/21   J.J.A.		LayoutLayout

AutoCAD SHX Text
4	  3/24/21   J.J.A.		Layout  3/24/21   J.J.A.		LayoutLayout



 Main Office: 

3601 Thurston Avenue, Anoka, MN 55303 

Phone:  763/427-5860   Fax:  763/427-0520 

www.haa-inc.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Mark Kaltsas 

 

CC:  Beth Horner 

    

FROM: Kaci Fisher 

 

DATE: March 31, 2021 

 

RE:  New MS4 Permit Updates 

  

 

The MPCA released the new MS4 permit in November 2020. The City of Independence has until April 

15th to submit a permit application, including an updated TMDL form. After submittal, the application 

will be reviewed by the MPCA and go through a 30-day public notice before being approved. Once the 

application is approved, the City will have 12 months from the date of approval to implement the new 

permit requirements. The new requirements include: 

 

• Increased education requirements 

• Requiring a public education activity event 

• Additional regulatory mechanisms for pet waste and salt management 

• Increased documentation for inspections 

• Increased training for all field staff (including police and fire departments) 

• Compliance schedule for TMDLs  

 

We are requesting the City Council authorize the submittal of the attached permit application and 

TMDL compliance/BMP activity schedule to the MPCA.   



































































TMDL Project Name, Waterbody, and Pollutant Pollutant

Target year WLA will be 

achieved

Estimated pollutant reduction this permit 

cycle (include units, such as lbs, percent 

reduction, lb/acre, etc.)

Method(s) for calculating 

reduction

Lake Independence Excess Nutrients TMDL-

Independence-(27-0176-00)-TP TP 2050 5% MIDS Calculator

Lake Sarah Excess Nutrients TMDL-East Sarah-(27-

0191-02)-TP TP 2050 5% MIDS Calculator

Lake Sarah Excess Nutrients TMDL-West Sarah-(27-

0191-01)-TP TP 2050 5% MIDS Calculator

North Fork Crow and Lower Crow Bacteria, Turbidity, 

and Low DO TMDL-Crow River-(07010204-502)-TSS TSS 2050 5% MIDS Calculator

South Fork Crow River WRAPS 2012-Crow River, South 

Fork-(07010205-508)-TSS TSS 2050 5% MIDS Calculator

South Fork Crow River WRAPS 2012-Rice-(86-0032-00)-

TP TP 2050 5% MIDS Calculator

South Metro Mississippi TSS TMDL-Mississippi River-

(07040001-531)-TSS TSS 2050 5% MIDS Calculator

Upper Minnehaha Creek Watershed TMDL-Minnetonka-

Jennings Bay-(27-0133-15)-TP TP 2050 5% MIDS Calculator

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Compliance schedule for Wasteload Allocations not being met (permit item 12.8)

Fill in the target year that each of the applicable WLA(s) will be achieved for each TMDL , waterbody and pollutant listed in column A.  If you have an applicable WLA for total suspended solids 

(TSS) or total phosphorus (TP), a cumulative estimate of TSS and TP load reductions to be achieved during the permit term and the method used to determine the estimate should be entered in 

Columns D and E. For further instruction on completing this tab, refer to: 

https://stormwater.pca.state.mn.us/index.php?title=Guidance_for_completing_the_MS4_Permit_TMDL_Application_Form#12.8_Compliance_schedule_tab



TMDL report form for MS4 Permittee (to be submitted with Annual Report)

https://stormwater.pca.state.mn.us/index.php?title=Guidance_for_completing_the_MS4_Permit_TMDL_Application_Form#12.8_Compliance_schedule_BMPs_tab

Required Optional Optional Required

Best Management Practice/Activity BMP description (Select all that apply)

Anticipated 

number of 

practices (if 

applicable)

Expected 

Implementation 

Year(s)

Lake Independence 

Excess Nutrients 

TMDL-Independence-

(27-0176-00)-TP

Lake Sarah Excess 

Nutrients TMDL-East 

Sarah-(27-0191-02)-TP

Lake Sarah Excess 

Nutrients TMDL-West 

Sarah-(27-0191-01)-TP

North Fork Crow and 

Lower Crow Bacteria, 

Turbidity, and Low DO 

TMDL-Crow River-

(07010204-502)-TSS

South Fork Crow River 

WRAPS 2012-Crow 

River, South Fork-

(07010205-508)-TSS

South Fork Crow 

River WRAPS 2012-

Rice-(86-0032-00)-TP

South Metro Mississippi 

TSS TMDL-Mississippi 

River-(07040001-531)-

TSS

Upper Minnehaha Creek 

Watershed TMDL-

Minnetonka-Jennings 

Bay-(27-0133-15)-TP

Infiltrator Bioretention with no underdrain (rain garden) 2022 X

Supplemental_street_sweeping Increased sweeping frequency entire permit cycle X X X X X X X X

Supplemental_public_education_outreach Publications entire permit cycle X X X X X X X X

Establish_ordinance Pet waste 2022 X X X X X X X X

Supplemental_employee_education_training Staff training entire permit cycle X X X X X X X X

TMDL-Waterbody-Pollutant

Fill in the following table with your proposed best management practices (BMPs) or progress toward implementation of BMPs to be 

achieved during the permit term, anticipated number of practices (if you are planning to install more than one of any type of BMP), and the 

year each BMP is expected to be implemented ("Implementation Year(s)" column). Put an "X" in the boxes for the TMDL that corresponds 

with each BMP. Where possible, please select the appropriate BMP from the dropdown (click on downward arrow to see options) in the 

"Best Management Practice/Activity" column. Otherwise, you are free to enter text in this worksheet. For more guidance on completing this 

tab, see:

Compliance schedule Best Management Practices (BMPs) for Wasteload Allocations not being met (permit item 12.8)


	032621 Pay App 04 BKV Signed wLetter.pdf
	Pay App #4_BKV SIGNED




